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AN ARCHAEOQLOGICAL EVALUATTION AT MOUNT PLEASANT,
CHNESTERTON, NEWUCASTT F-UNDER-T VME

By Gary Coates
1.0 Summary

A trial trench was cexcavated across the possible corner of the rampart and
ditches assoctated with the Roman fort at Chesterton by staff from the
Birmingham University Field Archaeology Unit in December 1998. The purpose
of the excavation was to assess the extent to which these ramparts survived and
the degree to which they would be affected by a proposed housing development.
No cvidence of the Reman fort was recovered from the evaluation trench,
although the area had been subjected to significant levelling associated with the
construction of Victorian terraces and post-war housing. The construction of an
access road from Mount Pleasant to Chesterton High School, during its
development, may also have had a major impact on any surviving archacology. A
record of the identified stratrigraphy was madc.

2.0 Introduction

This report describes the results of an evaluation trench cxcavated within an
undeveloped area between two rows of housing, to the west of the village of
Chesterton. The excavation itself consisted of a single 30m long trench excavated by
machine and further investigated by hand archacological excavation. This was carried
oul in the prior to development, as a condition of the planning consent, to assess the
extent to which the south-western corner of Chesterton Roman fort and any associaied
archacological features survived and would be affected by the proposed development.
Birmingham University Field Archaeology Unit was commissioned to carry out this
cxcavation to define the survival, nature, extent and significance of any archaeological
deposits encountered. The work was carried out 1n accordance with the Staffordshire
County Council Brief with Specification for an Archacological Fvatuation ar Mount
Pleasant, Chesterton, Staffordshive, prepared in July 1997,

3.0 Site Location (Figs. | & 2)

Chesterton is a willage in the north-west stburbs of Nowcastie-under-iyme. The
application site is a 950 square metre area of disused land at the north-western end of
Mount Pleasant, centred on N (3R, §J 8300348943 and o the south of the south-
western corner of the presenlt Chesterton ffigh School. The area remamed
undeveloped alier the demclition, and replacement, of the wo adjacem rows of

terraced houses 1n the 1970y,

1.0 Archacolegicsi Background

4.0 Archaeolegieal Background

The application site encompasses the southern corner of the Roman fort at Chesterton

{Statfordshire Sies and Monument Primary Record Number [771) The site of the
furt had been suspected 10 be of Roman ongins sinee the 16th century when Sampson



bErdeswick described “ruinsy of o very anclent fowrnthe walls have Been of

miracttows thickness and

eod in
respect fo an old castle anciemly situaied near it ar Chesterton (Charlton 1961, 263,
In 1686, R. Plot referred 1o Prdeswick and Camden, but claimed there was no visible
remaing in Bs ume (b)) S, Shaw relerred (o 7 an oblons ploi of ground higher
than the rest of the land, which o the north west is strongly defended bv o vast ditch
or stope quarry”, in s 1798 History and Aniiguities of Siaffordshire {ibid.}y. John
Wiard also gave a size of 370 by 370 vards for the lorl at Chesterton in his The
Borough of Stoke-upon-Treni {1843), The line of the fortress rampart also seemed to
have been preserved in the field boundaries in the late-19th century, ag can be seen
[rom the 1899 Ordnance Survey map (I1g, 3),

ardern: refarred. i 586, 10 Neweagtle ae N oaf

The first cxcavations took place in 1905, conducted by Charles Lynam but proved
fruitless, as did the 1925 Pape excavations on the north-west corner of the fort,
However, Pape’s excavations in 1933 found evidenee of Roman occupation of I'lavian
datc in the north-cast corner of the fort {ibid.). In 1956, ).H Kelly excavated near 1o
Pape’s trenches and discovered artifacts of late-1st and carly-2nd century dates, but no
sign of any defences (1bid.}.

In the 1950s, Chesterton Sccondary Modern School, now Chesterton High School,
was built on the site of the possible interior of the fort, which may have had a
detrimenta! effect upon any remaining archaeological deposits in this area.

The principal excavations of the fort were undertaken between 1969 and 1971, during
the demolition of the Victorian terraced housing and the coastroction of the present
houses, by F.H.Goodvear (Goodyear 1970, 1976} and particularly focused on the
south-eastern detences ol the fort (Fig. 4}, establishing the line of the south-castern
arm of the defences and the southern comer of the lort. The structure ol the rampart
and difches was established, and ovens, sited immediately inside the rampari, were
uncovered together with the infervalium road. The sandstone rampart was 7.6m wide,
with turt revetments and {imber lacing. Two ditches were located, the mner up to
4.6m wide and cut 1.2m deep inlo the sandstone bedrock with a “cleaning” channel,
the outer. cut info clay. was ol similar dimensions {Jones 1975). Other structlural
evidence included a post-hole seuling, possibly relating (o a tower. Artifacts recovered
lrom the excavatons mcluded {ine and coarse poliery. metalwork, glass and a
carnelian ring-seal with winged Victory, the sanman pollery indicated an early Flavian

Pl

date_ towards the end of the st Century A D,

cvaluation.

50 Ohjectives

The generad objechives of the fraal trench were 1o define the sunvival, nature, oxient
and significance of any archacological deposits encountered. so that appropriate
itigation sirafegics could be devised.
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The socerhic abicatives, relating to the Roman forn wore

a) to define tho oxient of survival of the rampart and ditches. and features internal to
them and,

b to determing the extent of survival of features ouicide the fort defences, and fo
assess the notential degree of destruction and/or truncation of deposits caused hy the
construction ol the now demolished terraced houses, on ihe southern part of the site.

5.0 Method

The excavation ol the overburden in the trial trench was carried out by a J.C.B.
Fxcavator, fitted with a .om wide, toothless ditching bucket and operated under
archacological supervision. The uppermost horizon, in which evidence of 20th-
century building activity was identified, was recorded belore re-machining these
deposits down to the nalural weathered sandstone horizon. Any  significant
archaeological deposits were excavafed by hand and recorded on pro-forma record
cards supplemented by scale plans, section drawings and photographs, where
appropriate. Where no archaeological deposiis were identified the stratigraphy was
recorded and photographed. These records comprise the site archive, which, at the
time of writing, is currently stored at Birmingham University Field Archacology Unit,
Alter completion of the excavations the trench was backfilled by machine.

7.0 The Trial Trench (Figs. 5 & 6, Plates | & 2)

The entre trench was covered with 3 .3 o 0 4 thack depestt of topsor! {1000), this
had a high clay content and contained a large pereentage of domestic rubbish and
building rubble.

The southern half of the trench contained the foundation walls (see Fig. 5) of the
Victerian terraced houses, demolished in the 1970s and vistble on the 1899 Ordnance
Survey map (Fig. 3). They can be related to the side and rear walls of the properties as
the 1899 map clearly shows that the houses were built with their frontages facing the
valley vista, in an opposite dircction to the remainder of the houses. These walls were
contained within a general levelling layer (1002) of dark brown clay, mixed with
building rubble and domestic rubbish, associaled with the demolbition of these houses.
In places these deposits measured up to 0.95m in depth below the topsoil. These
demolition deposits and walls were generaily cut mie the natural weathered sandstone

(1601),

In the northern hall of the trench, 2 road (1003) had been cut into the nataral horizon

1001y, Thie rood consisted of o hard-core surface bedded upon i mixed clay deposit,
which had an overall depth of §.3m 1o O.dm and contained moder debris, The roure

of this road lined up with the end ol Mapet Plo
Chestertorr High School and may bave been an zecess route assod

construction of the schoo! or the houses.

“
|



An apparent bank m the northern extreme ol the rench wondd apoear to he made up of

naiural deposits (10073, posibly ro-denneitnd and meluding o feng of grey sand-sin

grey
{10041 and some root disturbance

1he overall level of the oround drong from 175 56m A QLD 2l the top of the northers
end of the rench to 173 10m AGD gt the southern end, and woold seewr to indfcate
a natural break of slope thal has been subsequently disturbed by the modern activity
on the site.

8.0 Assessment of the Archaeologicul Importance of the Site

There was no evidence of the forl rampart or associated ditches within the northern
part of this trial wench, which would seem to suggest that they liec beyond the
application site and some re-assessment of Goodyear’s projected ramparts may be
necessary. Although there was some disturbance associated with the construction of
an access route, this was not decp cnough to have totally obscured any deposits
associated with the rampart or ditches. There was also no indication of the presence of
these features within the vicimity of the trench, as there were no associated artifacts
reccovered which could be dated to the peniod of the forl.

The levelling and Victorian wall [oundations m the southern half of the trench showed
the degree of disturbance to which this area of the site had been subjected. Any former
archaeological remaing would be unlikely to have survived this disturbance, which is
likely 1o be true tor the whele southern part of the site.
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Southern end of Trench
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